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THE LEGISLATIVE BATTLE OVER THE 
CALIFORNIA-NEVADA INTERSTATE 
WATER COMPACT: A QUESTION OF 
MIGHT VERSUS NATIVE AMERICAN 

RIGHT 

TIMOTHY C. HALLER 

RATIFICATIO:"I OF THE CALIFORNIA-NEVADA INTERSTATE COMPACT con-
cerning waters of Lake Tahoe, Truckee River, Carson River, and \Valker 
River Basins devolved upon the California and Nevada state legislatures in 
early 1969. Competition between the two states for the scarce waters of the 
eastern slope of the northern Sierra Nevada had intensified in the period 
following World War II. Lake Tahoe blossomed as a gambling and recreation 
center, its ever-increasing permanent and transient populations exerting 
pressure on local resources. The Reno-Carson City metropolitan area 
changed from a region centered on the aptly named Biggest Little City in the 
\Vorld to a bustling commercial and recreation center replete with 'skyscrap-
ers, urban sprawl , and the many problems of a fast-growing modern urban 
area. And thirst for water among the ranching interests on the eastern slope 
of the Sierra Nevada and the farming interests of the Truckee, Carson, and 
'Walker River basins continued unabated. The one relative constant as the 
area developed was the severely limited water supply. 1 

Against this background, the two states had in 1955 implemented a deci-
sion to make use of the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution 
to negotiate an interstate compact2 making final allocation between California 
and Nevada of the \vaters of the three rivers. The process of negotiation was 
set in motion in August of 1955 as President Dwight D. Eisenhower signed 
federal legislation authorizing representatives of the two states to negotiate a 

Timothy G, Haller is visiting assistant professor of political science at the University of J\evada, Rcno, 
He is interested in American public policy, water policy, and :-.Ievada politics, which he writes about in thc 
Encyclopedia Amelicana. 
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water compact. The process required appointment of compact commissions 
in each state, with a federal representative to safeguard federal interests and 
to chair a joint commission; ratification by the respective state legislatures in 
identical form; signatures of the two governors; ratification by the Congress of 
the United States; and finally the signature of the President on the completed 
compact. At each step, the compact would have to be passed in identical 
form. Twenty such water compacts had been concluded between 1922 and 
1969. Was it still possible in a world of heightened complexity and increasing 
competition for a continuously scarce resource-water-to negotiate an in-
terstate compact, or was the process obsolete? 

As is usual in water disputes, the major local water interests played signif-
icant roles. The memberships of the state water commissions by and large 
represented those interests in each state. The seven California commission-
ers represented the counties from which the water flowed, including Placer, 
EI Dorado, and Alpine on the California side of Lake Tahoe , with a separate 
representative for the Lake Tahoe area as well as a representative for the state 
as a whole. In Nevada, the commission seats went directly to representatives 
of the largest water users, with the chairmanship reserved for a representa-
tive of the state. These interests, with potent political clout, included the 
river system's largest water user, the Truckee-Carson Irrigation Disttict 
(TCID), holder of the contract for the Newlands Project, America's first 
reclamation project, \vhich rather inefficiently and primitively diverted large 
quantities of Truckee river water into the Truckee Canal and away from the 
river's terminus, Pyramid Lake; Sierra Pacific Power Company, the area's 
largest utility and an influential force \\lith the legislature; and Reno, the 
largest population center in the region, which was represented by the 
\Vashoe County Conservancy District, formerly a leading proponent of the 
1960s \Vashoe Project to dam and develop the upper Truckee. 3 

otably absent in 1955, and thereafter by choice, was any representation 
for the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe. Its greatest asset was Pyramid Lake, ter-
minus of the Truckee, and its fish ery. Any upstream allocations that were 
subtracted from the river would reduce the waters available for the lake's 
maintenance and ultimate survival. 

Fourteen years of tough and often stalemated negotiations ultimately re-
sulted in a draft compact agreed upon by the state and joint commissions on 
July 25, 1968, and submitted for legislative ratification in January of 1969. 
The negotiations in the early years emphasized the pact's effects on water 
users in the Lake Tahoe area. Only with resolution of those issues was the 
commission able to consider the more complex problems of a comprehensive 
division of the waters of the three river systems. At times the areas of dis-
agreement had seemed insurmountable, but an agreement was reached-
not perfect, but an agreement. The emphasis of the proposed compact was on 
the protection of those water rights already recognized under the respective 
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Derby Dam, completed by the reclamation service in 1905, diverted water from the 
Truckee River eastward by canal to the Carson River, thus decreasing the flow to 
Pyramid Lake. (Nevada Historical Society) 

laws of each state. Neither the possible inclusion of water to maintain Pyra-
mid Lake nor the recognition of nonestablished claimed or unclaimed water 
rights by the Pyramid Lake Paiutes under the Winters Doctrine of 1908 was 
seriously considered by the compact commission. The commission recog-
nized only those waters allocated to the tribe under the final Orr Ditch De-
cree of 1944, which limited tdbal water rights to agricultural use. This posi-
tion was agreed to despite the Pyramid Lake Paiutes' increasingly vigorous 
assertion of other, non established rights in the 1960s. 4 

The federal government in its fiduciary role is charged with protecting the 
rights ofIndian tribes. This responsibility is unique in American law, but it is 
not dissimilar to the relationship of a guardian to his ward. If the federal 
government does not fully protect a tribe's rights or fails to establish those 
rights at a given point in time, as occurred in the case of the Orr Ditch 
Decree and the Pyramid Lake Paiutes, those rights are not necessarily ex-
tinguished. But the rights would be negated \vith the passage by Congress of 
a compact that failed to allocate water for Pyramid Lake. 

The question of water for Pyramid Lake and the related Indian water 
rights loomed in 1969 as a potential hurdle for all the vested interests that 
sought ratification of established water rights . H ere was a political issue that, 
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in the context of the social activism of the 1960s, might act as a catalyst to rally 
opposition to the compact: ative American rights relating to an issue of 
interest to environmentalists whose goal was the disruption of ratification in 
California and Nevada. The key would be the Pyramid Lake Paiutes' ability to 
mobilize support and build coalitions with sympathetic individuals and 
groups. Pyramid Lake and its unique fishery were the tribe's main economic 
as well as aesthetic resources. The lake covered 50 percent of the reservation, 
contained the remains of a once robust Lahonton cutthroat trout fishery, har-
bored the ancient and unique cui-ui fish , and on Anaho Island held America's 
largest white pelican rookery. 5 Decreased water flow threatened the fish and 
their ability to spawn while decreased volume and increased salinity 
threatened the lake's ability to support aquatic life. 

Primary competitors for the lake's water were the TCID and the domestic 
users in the Reno metropolitan area, with TCID taking the lion's share. Un-
der the provisions of the final Orr Ditch Decree of 1944, the TCID was di-
verting large quantities of water at Derby Dam through the Truckee Canal to 
irrigate the reclaimed lands of the ewlands Project. Opened in 1902, the 
project was inefficient in comparison to later reclamation efforts, with its un-
lined canals and use of flood irrigation in an arid region. 

The Pyramid Lake Tribe and its supporters articulated a grievance with the 
compact commission over its failure to protect or even seriously consider the 
tribe's rights. The lake \vas an environmentally sensitive natural resource 
owned by Native Americans, and it was becoming an issue during a pe riod in 
which there was heightened public and political concern over both racial and 
environmental issues. Could this political climate be exploited to defeat or 
restructure the compact and thus help preserve the lake and Indian \vater 
rights? 

.. IOBILIZATION FOR THE LEGISLATIVE CONFRONTATION 

The joint commission approved the draft compact in July of 1968, galvaniz-
ing those for and against it in anticipation of the upcoming legislative ratifica-
tion process. The most vocal proponents were the Nevada commissioners 
who served as Nevada's representatives on the joint commission. The com-
pact's Nevada supporters were euphoric over the document's disposition of 
the disputed waters-about 90 percent had been allocated to Nevada, with 
significant waters reserved for growth in the Lake Tahoe-Truckee area of 
California. Nevada State Senator Carl Dodge of Fallon expressed this elation 
in his commendation of the Nevada commissioners: "These men have worked 
for the everlasting benefit of the state of Nevada."6 The general feeling was 
that the amount of water garnered for Nevada's interests was almost too much 
to have hoped for. 

Opposition to the compact coalesced around the Pyramid Lake Paiutes and 
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their desire to preserve and protect Pyramid Lake and its fisheries. Leading 
the fight were tribal officials and activists, including \Vilfred Shaw, James 
Vidovich, Allen Alleck, Teddy James, Dora Garcia, tribal attorney Robert 
Leland, and later his successor, Robert Stitser. 7 Environmental groups , in-
cluding the Sierra Club, and the United States Department of Interior 
offered specific objections to provisions perceived as depriving the Pyramid 
Lake Paiutes of rights or usurping federal prerogatives. The proposed com-
pact would have bound the federal government to its provisions. I> 

In their effort to achieve ratification , the compact's most visible and vocal 
supporters, the Nevada commission and to a lesser degree the California 
commission, adopted a strategy based on the concept of keeping the debate 
as narrow and localized as possible. The pro-development interests of the 
Tahoe basin, ranching interests of the eastern slope, water users of urban 
western Nevada, agricultural users of the Truckee and Carson basins, and 
bureaucratic interests of both states' water agencies we re already represented 
on the commission and \vere thus willing to let those commissions lead the 
fight before the public and in both state legislatures. The large water users 
remained conveniently out of sight. 

The approach adopted by the commissions in shepherding the compact 
through the state legislatures was to portray it as an important but noncon-
troversial technical document of interest only to those directly involved and 
containing provisions to the mutual advantage of both states and their respec-
tive citizenries. 9 This obviously was not fact but merely a strategy designed to 
slide the compact through to a quick and quiet ratification. In December of 
1968, on the eve of legislative considerations, Senator Dodge characterized 
the compact in this spirit as "important but not controversial. "10 

Both California and Nevada had so much money, time, and effort invested 
in the compact negotiations that there was a considerable reservoir of political 
support in both states. The respective state commissions, as well as the joint 
commission, had received annual financing through legislative appropriations 
supported by their governors, and they had presented yearly reports to the 
legislatures and governors. II By and large the issues involved had become 
nonpartisan. In the case of Nevada, Democratic governor Grant Sawyer and 
Republican governors Paul Laxalt and Charles Russell attended commission 
meetings, received progress reports, and gave enthusiastic support. This de-
gree of personal gubernatorial involvement was not evident in California. 12 

To avoid publicity and limit the number of participants, the commissioners 
"vorked to make the compact seem mere routine, obscUling the water in-
terests supporting the pact. The California commission , with Hubert Bruns 
acting as chair and chief spokesman, "vas content to provide technical infor-
mation to its legislature, answer questions when asked, and let the legislative 
process take its course. Bruns's passive approach led Nevada commission chair 
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Completed in 1915, Lahontan Dam formed a reservoir to store waters of the Truckee 
and Carson rivers for use on the lands of the Newlands project. (Nevada Historical 
Society) 

Roland \Vestergard to complain that the Nevada commission would "have to 
keep the pressure on California. "13 

Leading the Nevada commission's push for ratification \vere Chairman 
\Vestergard, spokesman, administrator, and conduit of information to the 
group; Robert Leighton, Sierra Pacific's representative, who acted as the 
commission's technical expert; Bolton representing the \Valker 
River water users, who served as the group's spokesman before both the 
public and the legislatures . On the California side, visible spokesmen and 
activists included Hubert Bruns; a rancher representing Alpine County; and 
Phil Girard, the commission's attorney. 14 

During 1967 and 1968 the threat to Pyramid Lake's survival and the ques-
tion of Paiute rights had received considerable coverage in the northern Cali-
fornia press . This \vas primarily due to two series of investigative articles 
written by Tom Arden for the Sacramento Bee. Television station KOVR, 
owned by the 1IcCIatchy organization as was the Bee, broadcast a companion 
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series entitled "1\-Iust Pyramid Lake Die?"l5 This publicity was exactly \vhat 
the commissions had hoped to avoid. It increased the probability of con-
troversy as well as the potential for an enlarged number of participants in the 
debate over the compact. 

In both the 1967 and 1968 series, Arden drew a direct link between the 
survival of Pyramid Lake and the defeat of the compact. 16 Those involved in 
the dispute were making strong statements for publication. Common threads 
through both series of articles were the decline and possible destruction of 
the lake, the plight of the Pyramid Lake Paiutes and the injustice being in-
flicted upon them, and the TCID's waste of the waters diverted from the 
Truckee to the Newlands Project. Arden quoted sentiments from community 
leaders on both sides of the state line: Reno conservationist Samuel Hought-
on stated, "Truly, \ve owe posterity the spectacle of Pyramid Lake ... . 
one who has ever seen the lake forgets it. " Tribal leader \Vilfred Shaw sarcas-
tically recalled previous promises to protect the lake: "\Vhite man speaks 
with forked tongue. "17 An anonymous characterization found that "Pyramid 
Lake in a way can be compared to a stray dog dependent on scraps and leftov-
ers from friendly housewives." \Villiam Gianelli, California's director of water 
resources, described TCID's waste of the Truckee River as an "unconscion-
able misuse of limited waters."18 Nevada state biologist Robert Trelease be-
moaned the fisheries' decline: "This is one of the blackest pages in the history 
of the American fisheries and represents what must be close to the ultimate in 
greed and lack offoresight." Blaming diversion of Truckee waters to the Ne\v-
lands Project, he declared; ''The trout killers' name was Derby Dam .... The 
saga of Pyramid Lake is a grim, humiliating sermon of selfishness on the one 
hand and public apathy on the other. "19 

Concurrently, the Nevada press \vas reporting events surrounding the 
compact's progress. Value judgments as to who was in the right or wrong 
were omitted. The general tone was that the compact was pro-Nevada and 
had been negotiated to the benefit of the state despite fears that Nevada 
would be "outgunned" by the larger, more populous California. Nevada's 
good fortune was attributed to the "hang-tough" policy adopted and im-
plemented by the Nevada commission. 2o 

l\.lembers of the commission and their staff contacted Nevada state 
legislators and provided them with copies of the proposed compact, a report 
entitled "Statement on California-Nevada Interstate Compact,"21 and other 
materials as requested. They held informational meetings around the state for 
invited legislators, the intent being to present the commission's arguments 
and to hear legislative concerns . These meetings occurred in December of 
1968 and January of 1969 just before legislative consideration of the com-
pact.22 Chairman \Vestergard emphatically denied that such contacts were 
intended as lobbying; he insisted they \vere merely efforts to keep the legisla-
ture informed as had been the practice throughout the negotiating process. 23 
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Conclusions can be drawn from the preratification maneuvering of the pro-
compact coalition. The agreement was of much more importance to Nevada 
statewide, involving major water interests that exerted influence through the 
Nevada commission, while in California it was merely a regional issue involv-
ing the counties around Lake Tahoe on the northern Sierra's eastern slope. 
The Nevada commission acted as the vanguard in seeking ratification. Within 
the commission and , by extension, water interests represented, there was 
consensus as to strategy and a \vell-orchestrated campaign for passage. The 
intense conflicts and unresolved issues of the negotiation process were laid 
aside for the ratification fight. The general compact process did work to forge 
consensus for ratification among diverse water interests , with the crucial ex-
ception of the unrepresented interests supporting conservation of Pyramid 
Lake. 

Opposing ratification, the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe came with Significant 
experience in working to protect the lake. In 1963 they had opposed the 
\Vashoe Project, a reclamation proposal designed to irrigate 50,000 acres 
from Truckee River system waters. This project had been heavily supported 
by the \Vashoe County Conservance District and allied water interests in the 
Truckee watershed. 24 Ultimately the tribe won concessions preferential to 
the lake's preservation before they acquiesced in the plan. The tribe mobi-
lized again in 1964 and 1965 to oppose an anticipated joint-commission agree-
ment on the interstate compact, 25 which failed to materialize when the two 
state commissions could not resolve their differences. The tribe was thus 
gaining valuable experience in coalition building, public relations, internal 
organization, and the general nuts and bolts of practical politics. 26 Tribal 
Attorney Robert Leland saw the battle to save Pyramid Lake and the Paiute 
water rights as starting not in 1968 but earlier: "The water battle against those 
who viOuld waste water and delight in building dams really got under way 
in 1963. "27 

A crucial part in the compact battle \vould be played by the federal govern-
ment in opposing the agreement. This was a product not only of the pro-
Native American political climate of the times but resulted from years of 
concerted effort by the Pyramid Lake Paiutes. Representatives of the tribal 
council built and nurtured a working relationship with the Departments of 
the Interior and Justice from at least 1963 on. The focus was on ensuring 
federal support against any threat to the lake's water supply. Secretaries of 
the Interior 1\'1orris Udall and Walter Hickel were kept informed of the tribe's 
positions and were actively cultivated.2S 

Tribal lobbying of federal agencies 'was successful with regard to the 1963 
Washoe Project, the 1965 draft interstate compact, and the completed com-
pact of 1968. The tribal council's opposition to the \Vashoe Project \vas 
dropped only after Udall assured them that Pyramid Lake would receive an 
additional 65,000 acre-feet of water a year. The 1965 draft proposal \vas re-
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turned to the joint commission in part because of Interior's objections to 
portions seen by the federal government as infringing on the tribe's \vater 
rights. 29 Attorney Leland informed the Pyramid Lake Paiute tribal council in 
1966 that he "was convinced that Udall was the best friend that the Indians 
had in their fight for water."30 On January 14, 1969, on the eve of the ratifica-
tion debate in the California and Nevada legislatures, Secretary Udall ex-
pressed the opposition of the Department of the Interior to the completed 
compact: "\Ve recommended that the Federal Government oppose the draft 
compact as it stands. "31 

The tribe's lobbying effort was well designed, consistent, and diverse. Cor-
respondence was supplemented with numerous meetings including those be-
tween tribal representatives and 'Villiam Duvores and George Hedden, 
federal representatives to the joint commission; repeated meetings with 
Bureau of Indian Affairs functionaries in Nevada and \Vashington, D.C.; and 
Secretary of the Interior Udall and his staff in both \Vashington, D.C., and 
Nevada. 32 A memo from the Commissioner of Indian Affairs illustrates the 
success of this effort: 

It is abundantly clear hom the 1968 Compact that if it is approved by the states and 
by Congress that: 1) the court in the Alpine case would be effectively prevented from 
entering a decree which would accord to the Pyramid tribe of Indians the relief to 
which they are entitled; 2) It would deprive the Indian tribe of their day in court. It is 
difficult to perceive a more clear invasion of the judicial power of the )J'ational Gov-
ernment and of the Indians to have adjudicated, determined and decreed their 
rights. 33 

In .May of 1968, John Frank, the tribe's special council for water matters, 
wrote to Udall requesting his continued support for the tribe's position, add-
ing that "the Paiute Indians of northern Nevada cry for help. "34 \Vithin the 
Department of Interior those supporting the concept of establishing Indian 
water rights found a valuable ally in ,,\lilliam H. Veeder, a water-resource 
specialist and attorney. He argued for aboriginal and Winters Doctrine rights 
\vithin the department, in print, and before Congress. 

The campaign against ratification of the proposed compact was formally 
begun by the Pyramid Lake Paiute tribal council on November 3, 1967. At 
that meeting Leland informed the council that under the proposed compact 
"Pyramid Lake cannot ever get more water than the 30,000 acre-feet for 
\vhich the tribe has a 'paper' right under the Orr Ditch Decree. "35 The same 
meeting authorized a campaign to publicize the tribe's arguments against the 
compact, an effort later known as the Save Pyramid Lake campaign. 

The tribe received support from a diverse collection of groups and organi-
zations, including the Nevada State Democratic Party's 1968 convention, the 
American Society of Ichthyologists and Herpetologists, the Nevada Indian 
Affairs Commission, the Intertribal Councils of Nevada and California, the 



Lake Tahoe, the source of water for much of northern Nevada. (Nevada Historical 
Society) 

National Congress of American Indians, vvhose executive director John Be-
lindo worked actively against the compact, and the Karok, Yurok, Shasta, and 
other individual tribes . The American Indian Press Association publicized 
positions of the Pyramid Lake Paiutes through its \Vashington , D . C., 
facilities. 36 

The Sierra Club and Nevada League of \Vomen Voters independently re -
sisted the compact. While working for the same gene ral purposes , both orga-
nizations were careful to maintain an identity separate from the tribe . .37 This 
did not preclude coordination of lobbying and public relation efiorts. In 1965 
the league's Ann TvlcKee instituted league attendance at the joint commission 
meetings. Tina Nappe, appearing before the California legislature , tes tified 
that the league believed the compact was discriminatory to Indian interests , 
the lake would likely be preserved if it were owned by non-Indians , Indian 
rights were not protected , and , with respect to Pyramid Lake, the compact 
\vas overall environmentally unsound. 3 8 

The Sierra Club had a long-standing interest in the preservation of Pyra-
mid Lake. \Vhen the compact was introduced into the state legislatures , the 
club's national organization , the Toiyabe (northern :'\l evada) Chapter, and the 
Northern California Regional Conservation Committee all opposed pro-
Visions \vhich would preclude water rights sufficient to preserve the lake .:39 
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The California club became actively opposed after the tribe's attorney argued 
that the compact would force the Paiutes' fight to establish additional water 
rights for Pyramid Lake out offederal court and into unfriendly Nevada state 
courts. Representatives of the Sierra Club rallied public support against the 
compact and lobbied the legislatures .4o Club policy makers and spokesmen 
during this 1968-70 period did not necessarily embrace the rights of Indians 
to use their lands in any way they saw fit ; rather, they viewed Pyramid Lake 
as a scenic and recreational resource in its own right. 41 

In late 1968, with legislative consideration of the compact imminent, 
lobbying efforts accelerated. The Pyramid Lake tribal council sent each 
Nevada legislator materials outlining the tribe's objections and soliciting 
support.42 Informal meetings with legislators occurred by plan. Attorney Le-
land and members of the tribal council met several times a week v.lith in-
dividuals and representatives of groups who might join in resisting the com-
pact before the legislatures . Wilfred Shaw, James Vidovich , and Allen Alleck 
were active in this endeavor.43 \Villiam Hunt Conrad was hired as a lobbyist' 
in California. 

In the legislative struggle the strategy of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe 
was to be similar to the approaches adopted in the successful campaigns of 
1963-64 and 1965-66 against the \Vashoe Project and the proposed compact 
of 1965. The tribe had organized internally, sought support and alliances with 
other groups, launched a public relations campaign, publicized Pyramid 
Lake's value to all Americans, sought the support of the federal government, 
and lobbied the legislatures . 

By January of 1969 the strategies of those promoting and opposing compact 
ratification were well defined. The established water interests, hiding under 
the umbrella of the state and joint compact commissioners, \vere committed 
to localizing and containing any controversy away from the public vie\\', while 
displaying an image of a compact beneficial to the citizenry and economies of 
both states. The federal .government would be portrayed as divided on the 
issue, with any call for modification from that quarter characterized as un-
warranted because the fact of federal representation on the joint commission 
had earlier provided ample opportunity to raise those issues. Opponents 
would attempt to heighten public awareness as to the controversial nature of 
the compact, capitalizing on the pro-Indian and pro-environment tenor of the 
times. They hoped that federal objections would playa crucial role in amend-
ing or defeating the compact. 

THE LEGISLATIVE STRUGGLE FOR 

In January of 1969 the ratification phase began with formal introduction of 
the California-Nevada interstate compact into both state legislatures . It was 
introduced concurrently in the California State Senate by Stephen Teale and 
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in the California State Assembly by Eugene Chappie.44 Both represented 
districts destined to receive water under the compact. In Nevada, introduc-
tion was in the Nevada State Assembly by R. Hal Smith and Norman Hil-
brect, both of Clark County. Smith chaired the Committee on Governmental 
Affairs, which would have primary responsibility for consideration of the 
compact. 45 

Lobbying of the Nevada legislature was on a personal and informal level, 
low key. Members of the Nevada compact commission , along with repre-
sentatives of established agricultural and domestic water users, simply talked 
to legislators, giving facts and answering questions. Bolton Minister, Robert 
Leighton, Fred Settlemeyer, James Wood ofTCID, and Ray Knisley all lob-
bied in this fashion .46 In part, the good reception they met in the legislature 
was a result of the Nevada commission's policy of keeping the lawmakers 
informed throughout the years of negotiation. Those most active in lobbying 
against compact passage were Pyramid Lake Paiute tribe members Avery 
'Winnemucca, Allen Alleck, Warren Toby, Mervin Wright, James Vidovich, 
and their attorney, Robert LelandY While legislators politely heard their 
arguments against passing the compact, these efforts garnered little or nQ 
support. 

Two joint hearings of the Nevada Assembly Committee on Governmental 
Affairs and the Senate Committee on Federal, State, and Local Governments 
were indicative of the nature of the debate in that state . Members of the 
Nevada commission carried the ball in testimony: Representatives of water 
users such as the vVashoe County Conservancy District, Sierra Pacific Power 
Company, and the TCID were present in their capacity as commissioners , 
and were careful to testify as representatives of the commission, not individ-
ual interests. Their presentations \vere factual, technical, and almost clinical 
in content. Bolton r..Hnister and James Johnson in this vein testified that the 
compact was essentially good for Nevada and should be enacted, arguing also 
that the purpose of the compact was not to allocate water to individual users 
(such as the Pyramid Lake Paiutes) but was rather to implement division of 
waters between states . Allocation within states was to be determined by the 
respective states. In short, the compact was beneficial to Nevada and de-
served ratification. 48 

Leland presented the lead arguments in opposition to ratification. He 
argued that the compact "does not contain any positive provisions for Pyra-
mid Lake Indian Reservation water rights ... and would seriously interfere 
with the \vater users' right to go to court. "49 Native Americans, with their 
unique relationship with the federal government, would see the federal 
fiduciary responsibility diminished in the compact's limiting of the right of 
the United States to intervene on behalf of Indians. Leland asked that any 
provisions that might preclude the tribe or the federal government from su-
ing for additional water rights be deleted from the compact. Charles Spring-
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er, speaking on behalf of the Toiyabe Chapter of the Sierra Club, supported 
Leland's call for amendment of provisions deemed de trimental to survival of 
the lake .50 He concluded, "the continued existence of Pyramid Lake is at 
stake; otherwise we should not ask the Legislature to alter a document which 
was so long in preparation. Adoption of the don't-worry-about-it attitude of 
the com pact's proponents would be a great disservice to the people of the 
state. "51 

Two questions we re delineated in these first hearings on the compact on 
January 14 and February 11 of 1969. First, would Pyramid Lake be denied 
water rights necessary for its preservation under the compact? Second, what 
position was the rederal government taking on the proposed compact? Both 
questions proved complex, their answers differing according to the bias of the 
answerer. The nature of the debate ove r the compact had by now been de-
lineated. The contest over ratification would revolve not around allocation dis-
putes left: unse ttled by the water interests represented on the compact com-
mission, nor would it to any degree involve qUibbling over absolute quanti-
ties of water alloted to each state; the conflict over ratification \\'ould revolve 
around the pe rceived effects upon Pyramid Lake. 

As Leland's testimony illustrates , the tribe and its supporters judged that 
the compact would threaten tribal water rights. Compact proponents denied 
this assertion. In a letter read into the record of the February 11 hearing by 
committee chairman Smith , the legislative counsel, Russell !vlcDonald, re-
futed arguments that Indian water rights were threatened. He argued, 
"Nothing in the Compact limits the Indians in asserting their rights to this 
water or against other Nevada users or potential users . . .. It is the refore the 
opinion of the legislative counsel that adoption of the Compact would not 
prejudice Indian rights , present or potential. "52 

The federal government's position on the compact came to the fore in these 
firs t hearings . Leland presented a letter from Secretary Udall, dated January 
14, 1969, which seems to indicate fede ral opposition: 

The Compact goes beyond the usual function of allocating water be tween party 
states and purports to bind the federal Government both as a sovereign and as a 
trustee for Indians .. . . 

Most se riously affected would be the Winters ' Doctrine rights of the Pyramid Lake 
Indians. Because of these rights, we believe that the United States should not con-
sent to the draft compact as it stands, but should use the opportunity to re negotiate 
the Compact so as to place the Indians in the best position to succeed in the proposed 
"Vinters' Doctrine litigation. 53 

But Chairman Smith responded by reading a letter from J. R. Ritter, federal 
representative on the joint commission, stating that, as of February 5, 1969, 
no formal position on the compact had been taken. 54 

Less than three weeks after its introduction , the interstate water compact 
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was ratified by the Nevada Assembly by an overwhelming margin and, after 
only four days of formal consideration, the Senate did likewise. 55 The Nevada 
compact commissioners had been successful in developing a close working 
relationship with the legislators . In Roland Westergard's view, there was 
never any doubt that the compact would pass in Nevada. 56 As Senator Cliff 
Young described the compact, "Were it any better as far as Nevada is con-
cerned, I would be suspicious. "57 Aside from the tribe at Pyramid Lake , the 
only economic interest that might be harmed by the compact was the city of 
Sparks, which billed itself as the gateway to Pyramid Lake , servicing the 
needs of sportsmen; and its legislative delegation , led by Donald R. Mello, 
voted against the compact. 58 

The floor fights in the Assembly and Senate in February of 1969 were 
indicative of the entire legislative debate. Proponents re iterated that the 
compact was provided for an equitable distribution of water that fully pro-
tected the rights of the Indians , further declaring that all claims to the con-
trary were invalid. Not for them emotional pleas or high-pressure interest-
group lobbying; the ground work was done and ratification should follow. 
l\lello wrote a minority report prepared with help from Leland,59 and Eileen 
Brookman, a committed supporter of minority rights , argued eloquently 
against the compact for Indian rights. Brookman used the legal doctrines of 
Winters' and aboriginal rights to water; she also appealed to the Assembly's 
sense of ethics in dealing with Native Americans: "The White man promised 
the Indian everything and gave him nothing .. . . It is 1969! I would wish that 
you would reach into your hearts and help to stop man's inhumanities to 

"60 man . 
Nevada's 1969 passage of the compact catalyzed the national press to pub-

lish the first of numerous anticompact articles that were to appear over the 
next two years. The day afte r passage, the New York Times observed, "Today, 
conservationists are seriously wOlTied that this lake, the last vestige of a huge 
inland sea created by retreating glaciers, is faced with extinction." It also 
emphasized the makeup of the Nevada commission, all ranchers and repre-
sentatives of water-power companies, without a single conservationist. Le-
land was quoted: "People in Nevada just don't like Indians. " The federal 
government was criticized: "They have a responsibility to the Indians, but 
they're doing nothing to safeguard the Pyramid Lake Tribe. "61 The compact 
dispute was showing the first real signs of being nationalized. 

While the nature of the debate in the California legislature was similar to 
that in Nevada, the anticompact strategy was different. Both the Sierra Club 
and the Pyramid Lake Paiutes used paid professional lobbyists , Jack Zierold 
and William Hunt Conrad, who coordinated the over-all anticompact effort. 62 

A number of powerful legislators in the California Assembly-including John 
Miller, Assembly Democratic leader; George Zenovich , chair of the Assem-
bly Democratic Caucus; Edwin Z'Berg and Earle Crandall, powerful Demo-
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crats on the Natural Resources and Conservation Committee; George 
chair of the same committee-were supportive of the position of the Pyramid 
Lake Paiutes and their allies in opposing the compact. 63 In addition, the 
anticompact coalition gained access to the legislative staff through A. Dobie 
Jenkins, a legislative assistant to the Assembly Democratic Caucus, and 
O. James Pardue, water consultant to the Assembly Committee on Natural 
Resources and Conservation. 64 This proved helpful a conduit of documen-
tation and other information to assemblymen. 

With this favorable situation in the Assembly, the anticompact alliance 
made a strategic decision to write off the Senate and to concentrate their 
efforts on the Assembly. John Frank, an attorney working on water matters 
for the Pyramid Lake Paiutes, rationalized, "The Indians simply are not capa-
ble of resisting the attacks on every front, and have had to choose one place 
for a last stand."65 

Leading the fight for ratification were the California and Nevada com-
missions, the state of Nevada, and the affected county governments in 
California. 66 Hubert Bruns and attorneys Frederick Gerald and Adolph M os-
kovitz were active for the California commission, as well as William Gianelli, 
commissioner and director of the Department of Water Resources. 67 'Wester-
gard and Bruns coordinated the efforts of the two state commissions. 68 

Assemblyman Eugene Chappie led the fight in the Assembly, while Senator 
Stephen Teale did the same in the Senate. 69 

As the 1969 session dragged on, the compact was bottled up in the Assem-
bly Committee on Natural Resources and Conservation. Compact backers 
believed that the committee was anticompact and failed to give them a fair 
hearing. Bruns complained to Chappie, "Our representatives have been un-
able to talk to some members and have been poorly received by others .... 
Indian representatives have been able to speak almost unlimited before the 
hearings. Our representatives have been restricted. "70 Prospects for passage 
were further dimmed by' United States Senator Alan Cranston's letter of 
March 11, 1969, urging a guarantee of water for Pyramid Lake's survival and 
warning that failure to provide so "would seriously endanger the Compact 
being approved by Congress." He noted the growing national publicity sur-
rounding the lake and cautioned that "any proposal requiring congressional 
approval must be evaluated in the light of this national concern."71 

On March 18, 1969, a further setback arrived v.lith the announced opposi-
tion of the new Secretary of the Interior, \Valter J. Hickel. His objections 
were twofold: the adverse effect on Pyramid Lake and the compact's limita-
tions on the federal government's ability to litigate on the behalf of the 
Paiutes for additional water rights. Hickel observed that Pyramid Lake "is of 
critical importance to the impoverished Pyramid Lake Indians and is also a 
natural resource of unique value to the nation .... The compact goes beyond 
the usual function of allocating water between party states and purports to 
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bind the Federal Government both as a sovereign and as trustees for In-
dians. "72 Hickel suggested that the California and Nevada commissions re-
negotiate the compact to meet these objections. Both commissions re-
sponded with a resounding no. Nevada Governor Paul Laxalt reacted: "I can 
hardly believe Mr. Hickel's statement. Surely, he must have acted without 
full information. "73 Chappie observed that for sixty years the Department of 
the Interior had done nothing to preserve Pyramid Lake as water was di-
verted to reclamation in the Newlands Project. 74 

'With the compact bottled up in a hostile committee, the only true negotia-
tions between the two state legislatures commenced in March and April of 
1969. California Assemblyman Edwin Z'Berg initiated a series of meetings 
with Nevada Assemblymen Hal Smith and Norman Hilbrect, but nothing of 
significance resulted. In addition, the Nevada legislature's reaction to Califor-
nia amendments intended to make the compact more palatable to the Indians 
was negative. In Hal Smith's estimation, "Tempers were short over Califor-
nia's demands . \Ne were reluctant to knuckle under to California. "75 vVithout 
compromise from Nevada, the California Assembly's compact bill was killed 
on April 10. 

The defeat of the compact in committee in California, along with Z'Berg's 
assurance to Nevada's Governor Paul Laxalt that the Committee on Natural 
Resources and Conservation would pass a compact amended to ensure Indian 
rights to sue to protect water rights for Pyramid Lake,'6 motivated Nevada's 
legislature to reconsider the compact. In three days, April 21, 22, and 23, the 
Nevada legislature considered and passed a second compact containing 
cosmetic changes designed to placate California's legislators. Assistant legis-
lative counsel Frank Daykin testified , "The new language was without legal 
effect because the right was already granted," and the amendments were 
politically an "attempt to save California's face not ours. "77 

Action on the compact in Nevada prompted its resurrection in California, 
with Chappie proposing the Nevada changes in the natural resources com-
mittee of the Assembly. John Frank described these changes as "a perfectly 
dreadful onslaught against conservation interests and Indian interests. "78 

Changes that had been made were in form, not content, and with merely 
cosmetic intent. Pressure from the national press continued as articles oppos-
ing the compact appeared in the Christian Science Monitor and New York 
Times. 79 

The compact was subsequently amended, with the Paiutes ' support, to 
guarantee more water for the lake and to protect the Indians' right to sue. 80 

The California commission charged that these changes diminished Califor-
nia's right to store and use water, and they typified the amendments as a 
" 'sell out' of California water to Nevada. "8l It is ironic that the compact died 
with the end of the 1969 session because these amendments were viewed as 
not in California's best interest. The last legislative act on the compact in 1969 
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was an order authorizing an interim study of the compact between sessions to 
make recommendations for the 1970 session. 82 

I\larch of 1970 proved to be the pivotal month for legislative passage of the 
compact. As is often the case in legislative politics, the assignment of a bill to 
a specific committee can spell its passage or defeat. On 19 a revised 
compact, incorporating changes suggested by the interim study committee, 
was introduced into the California Assembly with the support of five of the 
seven members of that study committee, including the chair, Carley Porter. 
Intense maneuvering followed between Porter and Milias, as each strove to 
have the bill referred to the committee he chaired, i.e., to Water or to Nat-
ural Resources and Conservation, respectively. Porter prevailed, and the 
compact was assigned to the friendly confines of the Committee on \Vater. 83 

The revised compact bill did amend the compact to change portions most 
objectionable to the opponents; the limitation on water rights for Pyramid 
Lake to only the 30,000 acre-feet under the Orr Ditch Decree for agricultural 
uses was deleted; doubts about the Paiutes ' right to sue for more water were 
addressed by adding language specifically allowing anyone to sue for \vater 
rights in state courts .84 These changes \vere similar to the revised second 
compact passed in 1969 in Nevada and to language the California Assembly 
had refused to pass in 1969. David Sanderson, a deputy attorney general 
representing the California commission, conceded that the compact could 
take away potential Indian water rights for Pyramid Lake. 85 A J\hy 29, 1970, 
legislative counsel's opinion contradicted that observation, finding that th e 
amended compact did allow the Paiutes to sue for further water rights in 
e ither Nevada or federal COUtts. 86 

\Vith these revisions in place, the Sierra Club gave its conditional approval 
to the compact bill. 87 The Nevada League of Women Voters would oppose 
the compact to its end. 88 

The effort to kill, or to amend the compact to meet the Pyramid Lake 
Paiutes' minimum requirements, was lost with the interim study committee's 
report and subsequent referral of the compact to the Committee on \Vater. 
Testimony there and before the Assembly Committee on \Vays and J\Jeans 
did not deviate from earlier testimony in hoth states. Bruns did warn that 
failure to pass the compact would "mean many years of litigation, probably 
the most difficult in western water history. "89 Robert Stitser, the new Pyra-
mid Lake tribal attorney, asked the California legislature not to allow a spe-
cific allocation for the lake but merely not to force the Indians into the un-
fri endly confines of the Nevada courts. 90 The pe rceived anti-Indian character 
of the compact was stressed. James Vidovich , tribal chairman of the Pyramid 
Lake Paiutes , observed that passing the compact ,;"ould be "breaking the law, 
breaking your mvn nation's treaties, violating your own court's decisions and 
[would] bar access to even your own court system. "91 Ernie Stevens, director 
of the Inter-Tribal Council of California, declared that "this bill is flat out 
trying to steal Indian water," and that its passage could make Pyramid Lake 
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"a symbol of national unity, surpassing even Alcatraz. "92 Buff}' St. .\Luie , 
l\ative American and folk singer, attended a hearing but \vas precluded from 
tesifying by committee rules ; she then issued a statement contending that the 
compact "blatan tly steals the Indians' rights and property ... just like the 
cavalry troops ofa hundred years ago."93 As Stitser stated in July ofl970, "the 
compact is and still remains a callous murderous tool to steal the water rights 
of the Indians . "94 

The compact \vas ratified by the California Assembly on August 17, 1970, 
and by the Senate on August 19. Compact proponents had used low-key util-
itarian arguments, \vith the California commissioners leading the charge and 
the water interests \vhom they represented purposely remaining in the sha-
dows. The opposition used legal , ethical, and moral arguments to delay and 
amend the compact. Both sides relied on old-fashioned lobbying and staff' 
work in seeking to influence the legislature. 

The key element in mobilizing opposition and delaying the compact was 
the pe rceived impact of that agreement on l\ative American rights. Illustra-
tive is Z'Berg's comment during the Assembly floor debate, warning that the 
state of Nevada "wants to use the Compact to skewer the Indians, once again 
by the \Vhite man,"95 or Chappie's declaration that "we have gone to every 
length possible to protect the rights of the Indians. "96 

Passage in California virtually assured the compact's success in Nevada. 
Twenty-one days in February ofl971 \,·/Ould be required for Nevada's legisla-
ture to ratify. Opponents \ve re not able to persuade the legislature to amend 
the compact in Nevada, which would have necessitated reconsideration in 
California, by a body more sympathetic to their cause . 

The California legislature made a fateful decision in following the Com-
mittee on "Vater's 1970 recommendation to submit the compact to Congress 
f()]' ratification despite objections by the federal government. The inte rim 
report arrogantly stated that the committee had not in any way attempted to 
resolve th e objections of the United States Department of the Interior. The 
logic was that the federal representatives on the joint commission should 
have raised any federal concerns during the negotiations and that the objec-
tions of the Department of the Interior were unreasonable in relation to the 
resources being protected. 97 There was also a recommendation that negotia-
tions \vith the federal representative on the joint commission be reopened, 
which \vas not follO\ved. Throughout the legislative consideration in both 
states there was little effort to mee t federal objections and a consistent atti-
tude to defy the government's wishes . 

THE COl\'1PACT SUBMITTED TO CONGRESS 

Nevada's Governor .\Iichae l O'Callaghan signed the compact into 1mv on 
I\·Iarch 5, 1971, clearing the \vay for its consideration by the United States 
Congress. Howard Johnson of California introduced the compact into the 
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House of Representatives on J\Iarch 15, 1971. YS This violated a July 1969 
agreement bet,veen Secretary Hickel and the hvo state governors , Paul Lax-
aIt and Ronald Reagan , to delay the congressional submission until the Pyra-
mid Lake Task Force had concluded its \vork. 99 Secretary of the Interior 
Rogers t-.lorton reiterated his concurrence with the objectives of the July 
1969 agreement in a letter to O 'Callaghan: "The protection of the rights of the 
Pyramid Lake Indians is of great importance as is the conservation and pres-
ervation of Pyramid Lake itself." JOO Continuing disregard for the federal posi-
tion is illustrated in VVestergard's response to J\Iorton's letter; he stated that 
he saw no reason to further delay a compact that had taken fifteen years of 
work and was now "rightfully before the Congress. " 101 

the California nor Nevada legislatures made any attempt at com-
promise to meet the federal objections . This opposition was raised as early as 
1966,102 and was reiterated by every secretary of the interior be tween 1966 
and 1971. The federal government opposed compact provisions that dero-
gated present or future Indian rights and required the federal government 
to abide by the compact even though to do so \'>'ould conflict with its role as 
trustees for the Pyramid Lake Paiutes. Provisions binding the federal govern-
ment to a compact's terms are not normally found in interstate compacts. 103 

During both the compact negotiations and the ratification process neither 
California nor Nevada wanted federal involvement in the allocation of com-
pact waters within the states. It was a position etched in granite and which 
locked the participants into an untenable position. This was in the late 1960s 
and the 1970s, and in the era following World \-Var II the federal government 
had taken an ever-increasing role in western water uses. It was extremely 
unlikely to ratif)l blindly an interstate water agreement without resolution 
of concerns about Native American rights and the provisions binding it to 
the terms of the compact. 

Because of the opposition of the Departments of Justice and the Interior, 
the later opposition from the Office of Management and Budge t, and the 
continued opposition of California's senior senator, Alan Cranston , the com-
pact was not acted upon by Congress either then or subsequently. In fact, the 
compact's supporters never asked for an official position from the administra-
tion of President Richard l'\ixon because they knew it would be adverse. 104 

No committee action or vote has been taken on the compact; Congress has 
refused to act. Despite periodic efforts to revive the agreement, it remains in 
a sort of political limbo. 

THE COMPACT BATTLE ASSESSED 

In assessing \vhat happened to the California-Nevada Interstate \-Vater 
Compact it is important to recognize the intensely local nature of water dis-
putes and negotiations. The strong tendency is for compacts merely to ratify 



The Legislative Battle 217 

the water rights of existing users at the behest of powerful local \-vater in-
terests . This compact is no exception. Donald Pisani draws the same conclu-
sion in "The Strange Death of the California-Nevada Compact: A Study in 
Interstate Water Negotiations."105 Local interests are served , and there is 
little sympathy for alternate uses or even a cognizance of the \vider ramifica-
tions of the established use or in general of the public interests . The question 
of how the compact \vaters could best be used is seldom if ever addressed. 
\Vhile disputes among the negotiators did arise over allocations between Cal-
ifornia and Nevada, as did competition between reclamation and recreation 
interes ts , the societal, environmental, or economic justification of es tablished 
local water rights was never challenged. 

\Vhy then did the compact fail( While local \vater inte rests prevailed at the 
state level , their inability to meet federal concerns doomed the compact. 
E. E. Schattschneider argues that as the scope of an interest-group conflict 
expands to involve new participants and different governmental decision 
makers, the very nature of the political conflict changes, often with different 
winners and losers. 106 Thus the opponents' success in transforming the com-
pact from a local to a state to a national issue was ultimately decisive in its 
failure to become law. 

As Pisani concludes, it is unlikely in the political climate of the 1980s and 
beyond-with the increasing number and activism of interest groups-that 
any interstate water compacts will be successfully concluded. 107 This is espe-
cially true in the arid West, where the likelihood of involvement by l\ative 
Americans and of impact on the ir reservations is great. The case of the Cali-
fornia-Nevada Interstate \Vater Compact is testimony to this. 

No one won the battle over the compact. True, the Pyramid Lake Paiutes 
succeeded in preventing final passage, but they failed to secure sufficient 
water to preserve the lake. The compact proponents won in California and 
Nevada, but failed with Congress, thus continuing the uncertain status of the 
area's water availablity. 

It is 1989 and as l\ evada' s United States Senator Harry Reid tries des-
perately to negotiate a settlement among the same parties involved in the 
compact dispute of 1969-71, the same warning echoes across the political 
landscape. If there is no settlement now, then decades of dispute and litiga-
tion will follow. 
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